
EDWARD HILDER 
 

MORE PAGES CAN BE FOUND IN THIS SERIES UNDER THE ‘Old Woking History’ SECTION OF MY WEBSITE www.wokinghistory.org 

 

As I have noted before, the deeds 

to our property go back to 1897 

with the sale by Ridley Thomas 

Hilder, Charlotte Elizabeth Hilder 

and Edmund Wright Brooks (the 

executors of the will of Edward 

Hilder), of ‘five messuages’ on the 

corner of the High Street and 

Church Street to Robert Clamp, for 

£2501. 

There is a slight variation in the 

Ordnance Survey 25” maps of 

1871 (left) and 1896 (right), but 

they appear to show six properties 

between St George’s Cottage on 

the corner with Church Street, and 

the yard at what later became 

160 High Street. 

They also appears to show the 

back garden of what would now 

be our part of the land, stretching 

a long way into what would now 

be The Cloisters development (is it 

too late for me to claim that land 

back! 

Quite when (or why) Edward Hilder 

acquired the cottages I do not 

know, but I suspect they may 

originally have been used to house 

employees. 

Edward Hilder was a prominent local figure, but he was actually born in Cockfield2, Suffolk, the son of Richard and Ann Hilder.  

The census of 18413 shows him as a farmer there, aged 25, along with his 

wife Mary (20) and one month old daughter, also called Mary. 

His wife was born in Bury St Edmunds, Suffolk, on the 14th September 

1819, the daughter of Thomas Ridley and his wife Mary. They were 

nonconformists, Mary’s baptism being recorded at the Whiting Street 

Chapel in the town, on the 8th November that year4. 

Edward too was a nonconformist and in 1842 apparently helped to set up 

the Cockfield Congregational Chapel and Schoolroom5. 

In 1847, however, they moved to Woking, an advertisement in the Bury & 

Norwich Post announcing the sale by auction on Tuesday September 21st 

of ‘The Capital Farming Stock, nearly new carriages and implements, 

brewing and dairy utensils &c., the property of Mr Edward Hilder, who has 

disposed of the Old Hall Estate at Cockfield, and engaged a farm in Surrey, 

upon which he had taken the stock and effects by valuation’. 

The 1851 census6 shows Edward (37) as a farmer of 390 acres at Hoe 

Bridge Farm, employing 23 labourers, with his wife, Mary (31) and all but 

their youngest child being born in Suffolk – Mary (9), Edward (8), Ridley 

Thomas (6), Ernest Alfred (4) and Charlotte Elizabeth (1) 

There was also in the household a Governess, Mary Ann Blyth (26, 

unmarried), originally from Essex, with three other servants all coming 

originally from Suffolk, Elizabeth Jane Edwards (16) a house servant, 

Elizabeth Sexton (14) also a house servant, and Henry Levett (17) a farm 

labourer. 

                                                                 
1 SHC 3468/2/1 
2 Not Cuckfield, Sussex, as some seem to believe. 
3 TNA HO107/1011/10 
4 TNA RG4/2962 
5 East Anglian Daily Times, Friday 27th May, 1892, page 5 – ‘Half a century ago meetings were held at Mr Palmer’s farmhouse by a Mr Harwood of Cockfield and Mr Edward 

Hilder, now of Woking, Surrey. 
6 TNA HO107/1594/95/1 
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According to a list of the ‘Names of parties keeping Sheep in the Parish of Woking and entitled to Common of Pasture’7, by then he had 

about 500 sheep on his farm. 

By 18618 the amount of land farmed at Hoe Bridge was 554 acres, with 23 men and 12 boys now being employed. Mary was not listed 

at Hoe Bridge Farm, as she was then staying with her brother, Thomas Ridley (with his wife, twelve children, and five employees) at his 

shop in Bury St Edmunds, Suffolk9, along with her one year old daughter Clara J (who was born in Woking). Edward, junior, and Thomas 

Ridley Hilder were also missing from Hoe Bridge Farm on census night, but all the other Hilder children listed in 1851 were there – plus 

Alice (8), Eliza C (7), and Ann C (4).  

There was also a number of servants in the household, including Mary Sturns (21) a governess, William Blyth (34) a farm assistant, John 

S Dyer (17) a farm pupil, Rosea A Gurf (26) a cook, Emily Atkins (19) a housemaid and Frederick Snell (11) an errand boy – most of 

whom also came originally from Suffolk (William Blyth coming originally from Essex). 

There are documents in the Surrey History Centre that show that Hilder was not only farming Hoe Bridge, but also Round Bridge and 

Wilderness Farms, with leases from the Earl of Onslow dated 13th March 186110 renewed on the 29th August 186811 for 380 acres of 

land, barns and buildings. 

In 1866 Edward Hilder evidently acquired the Market House in 

Old Woking High Street previously belonging to James 

Fladgate12, paying his executors £525 for the property. In the 

deeds it is described as ‘building formerly the old Market 

House, now used as flour, meal and corn stores, wagon and 

cart house, situate in High Street, Woking’ with two messuages 

to the rear and ‘buildings recently erected by James Fladgate 

and now used as a hay, straw and general store’13. 

The Surrey Advertiser reported on the 9th July 187014 the sale 

of ‘the collection of fat stock possessed by Mr Edward Hilder, 

well known as an extensive grazier and agriculturist, will be 

brought under the hammer at Hoebridge Farm, Woking on 

Tuesday next by John Ellis of Guildford’.  

The sale, on the 12th of July, included ’53 prime beasts, comprising 25 oxen and 28 heifers and cows, 400 fat sheep, all of first-rate 

quality, 20 one and two years old well-bred heifers and steers’. 

A month later Hoe Bridge Farm was in the newspapers again, when a man called John Wallace was charged with a ‘fire at Hilder’s’ on 

the 5th August 187015. Edward Ryde mentions the incident in his diaries16, which appears to have been just one of a number of fires 

endured by Mr Hilder, with a reference to a ‘fire engine from Guildford’ attending Hilder’s Rick on the 26th August 187717 and ‘Mr 

Hilder’s house at Roundbridge’ being ‘struck by lightning’ on the 17th July 188018, 

The 1871 census19 lists Edward (57) as a farmer of 870 acres, employing 54 men, 19 boys and 9 women, with his wife, Mary (51) and 

son Ridley Thomas (26) once more at the farm on census night. 

Also present were Charlotte Elizabeth (27) Alice (19) Eliza Catherine (16) Ann Charles (14) Clara Jessie (11) Helen Joyce (9) Florence 

Grace (7), with the servants Helen Shepherd (23) Maria Ellen Whitley (24) Emma Killick (28) Jane Hiets (20) William Sturgeon (21) and 

Elijah Mant (15) 

In the 1870’s Edward Hilder apparently held an annual sale of livestock, the one in June 1872 raising £5,54920.  

‘For down sheep the prices ranged from 56s to 71s (average £3.3s) and for the horned ewes the lowest figure was 48s and the highest 

67s (average £2.19s). A pair of shorthorn steers went at £36 and £33.15s respectively. The prices of 35 shorthorn steers and heifers 

ranged from £23 to £36. Thirteen fat cows fetched on average £23.10s. Store beasts made about ten guineas a head’ 

As mentioned above, Edward was not just a prominent farmer, but was also active in the Congregational movement. According to 

Edward E Cleal in his book on ‘The Story of Congregationalism in Surrey’21, ‘meetings in connection with the Guildford church were held 

in the old Woking village as far back as 1865. Mr Edward Hilder, of Hoe Bridge, threw open his Market House for occasional gatherings’, 

before a more permanent venue could be found with the construction of the chapel at Cartbridge in Send. 

                                                                 
7 SHC 97/5/66 
8 TNA RG9/424/117/12 
9 TNA RG9/1440/4/2 
10 SHC 1320/29/11 
11 SHC 1320/29/12 
12 Surrey Advertiser, Saturday 1st September 1866, page 1 
13 SHC 3468/1/6 
14 Surrey Advertiser, Saturday 9th July 1870, page 5 
15 West Surrey Times, Saturday 20th August 1870, page 2  
16 SHC 1262/32 
17 SHC 1262/34 
18 SHC 1262/37 
19 TNA RG10/807/67/34 
20 Maidstone Journal and Kentish Advertiser, Saturday 22nd June 1872, page 2 
21 The Story of Congregationalism in Surrey, by Edward E Cleal, James Clarke & Co, 1908, page 397 
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One of those meetings was reported on in 187522, when the ‘British & Foreign Bible 

Society’ held a meeting in the Market House – the meeting presenting a ‘very novel 

appearance, the room round the walls being lined with a double row of sacks of corn on 

which many of the audience sat’. The Surrey Advertiser went on to note that the Rev G 

Jones, of Tunbridge Wells delivered a ‘very interesting address’ drawing on ‘a very 

happy parallel between the bread to feed the body as represented by the sacks of corn 

in the room and the Bread of life’. ‘The meeting was subsequently addressed by several 

clergymen and gentlemen of the neighbourhood, and thus terminated a very 

satisfactory evening unique of its kind considering the place in which the meeting was 

held’. 

He was also busy wining prizes for his ‘Mangold Wurtzel’23 as the Surrey Advertiser (left) 

reported in April 1879. 

The  1881 census24 shows Edward now as a farmer of 950 acres employing 43 men, 10 boys and 3 women, with his daughters Ann C 

(21) and Clara J (21) then at home at Hoe Bridge, along with the staff – this time a book keeper, an agricultural pupil, a needlewomen, 

a housemaid, a cook and the groom. 

His wife, Mary (62), was once again not at Hoe Bridge at the time of the census, this time showing up at Church Farm in Cockfield25, 

with their daughter Helen Joyce (19), and their farm bailiff, John Game (50), being responsible for 170 acres employing 7 men and 2 

boys (with his wife and two children plus a domestic servant living at the farm). 

 

It is perhaps interesting to note that the ‘agricultural pupil’ at Hoe Bridge was Alfred Nunns (21), who would go on to be a prominent 

local farmer himself, farming Oaks Farm, in Goldsworth Road (where the Surrey History Centre is today). 

The Hilder’s continued to farm both properties in Old Woking and Cockfield, with both of them apparently visiting Suffolk on a regular 

basis. On the 14th May 1887, the Bury Free Press26 reported that ‘Mr and Mrs Hilder came over last Friday to their farm at Cockfield as 

they were in the habit of doing occasionally, and on Sunday they attended divine service in the Congregational chapel, in which place Mr 

Hilder had always taken a lively interest, having been largely instrumental in establishing the cause there when a resident in Cockfield 

some forty years ago. On Monday morning, about seven o’clock, Mrs Hilder had an apoplectic seizure, and died about four hours later’. 

The newspaper went on to report on the ‘Church of England burial service’ that was ‘conducted by the rector (Rev Dr Babington) and at 

Mr Hilder’s request, Dr Babington assenting, the Rev W.H. Cole of Bury, gave a short and impressive address before the company at the 

grave’ – noting that ‘this is the first instance of a Nonconformist minister taking part in a burial service in Cockfield churchyard that we 

know of’. 

I can find nothing in the Surrey Press regarding Mrs Hilder’s death, with the next item I could find in the Surrey Advertiser four years 

later concerning an altogether different matter concerning Mr Hilder. 

In February 1891 the Surrey Advertiser27 reported on the ‘Serious Charges of Stealing and Receiving’ – George Edes of Woking being 

charged with stealing a sack of meal, the property of Mr Hilder of Woking, and Herbert Turner of Ockham of receiving the same ‘well 

knowing it to have been stolen’. 

Apparently Edes was one of Edward Hilder’s employees who regularly took sacks of produce to be ground at various local mills. On the 

30th January 1891 he took a couple of sacks of maize to be ground at Newark Mill in Ripley. He handed the sacks to Thomas Parker, 

one of the employees at the mill, and said that he wanted a sack of barley meal to take back. Apparently it was common practice for 

Hilder’s men to take back meal without an order, with the miller, George Jarman, making out a ‘ticket’ for 15s., for the sack to be 

delivered back to Mr Hilder’s Corn Stores in Woking.  

                                                                 
22 Surrey Advertiser, Saturday 20th November 1875, page 5 
23 Surrey Gazette, Saturday 26th April, 1879, page 4 
24 TNA RG11/772/34 
25 TNA RG11/1832/74/19 
26 Bury Free Press, Saturday 14th May 1887, page 8 
27 Surrey Advertiser, Saturday 21st February 1891, page 5 
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Mr Samuel Ashford, Acting Manager of the Corn Stores, confirmed that 

when Edes returned he did not hand over the barley meal nor the ticket, 

and noted that if Mr Edes had collected a sack of meal on Mr Hilder’s 

behalf to be delivered direct to a customer, then he would have been 

issued with one of the Corn Store’s tickets beforehand, to give to the 

customer.  

It turned out that Edes had not only sold the sack of barley meal from 

Newark to Sarah Nicholls of the Cricketers beerhouse in Ripley, but had 

also sold ‘a sack of crammings28’ to Mrs Kingston at the White Hart, 

Addlestone, that he had similarly stolen from Cox’s Lock Mill, and 

another sack of meal ‘to Turner, the knacker man, at Woking Station’, 

whom he had met at the Talbot Tap in Ripley. 

The case was even reported in the national press, The People, noting on 

the 22nd February29, that ‘when Edes fetched the meal from the mill, it 

was stated that he sold some of it for a purely nominal sum. All the 

prisoners were committed for trial’. 

The case was concluded in April 189130, with the Mr Horace Avory, 

setting out the case for the prosecution. ‘He said that the prisoner Edes 

was a carman in the employ of the prosecutor. On one occasion he was 

sent to Cox’s mill at Weybridge, and on two other occasions to a mill at 

Ripley, and having delivered the corn he took to the ground, he 

pretended that he was to take back some cramming in one instance and 

barley meal in two other instances. The millers gave him sacks of barley 

meal and cramming, believing they were for Mr Hilder, and also made 

out delivery notes. Instead of delivering the sacks to his employer, he 

sold them to the three other prisoners on his own account. Eades had 

pleaded guilty, but it was for the jury to consider the prices he got for the 

sacks in connection with the other cases’. 

The 1891 census31 lists Hilder as a ‘Corn Merchant and Farmer’ at ‘Hoe 

Bridge’ a widower aged 77, with his son Ridley (46) as a visitor on census 

night, along with Charlotte Hilder (41) and a grandchild, Ada Colebrook 

(24).  

Ada was presumably one of the children of the Mary Colebrook (nee 

Hilder), who according to the Ipswich Journal in 1874 ‘died in childbirth, 

aged 32 years – the beloved wife of Mr May Colebrook, butcher, of 

Guildford Surrey, the eldest daughter of Mr Edward Hilder, farmer of 

Cockfield, leaving seven small children to mourn their loss’32. 

I could not find notice of either Mary or her daughter’s death in the 

Surrey press, and even Edward’s own demise in 1894 only warranted a 

brief note in the Surrey Advertiser33, with the Dorking and Leatherhead 

Advertiser reporting on the 22nd February34, the death of ‘Mr Edward 

Hilder of Woking, one of the largest farmers of West Surrey died last 

week in his 80th year’ - the Sussex Agricultural Express35 adding that he 

died ‘within a few days of his 80th birthday’. 

Hoebridge Farm was put up for sale in October, 1895, the sale, 

held by the auctioneer Ernest H Ellis, lasting two days36, whilst 

Church Farm at Cockfield was sold the following September37, and 

as we know the year after that that the executors, got around to 

disposing of the cottages on the corner of Church Street and the 

High Street.  

It was not until 1899 that the executors sold the old Market House 

– the story of which we shall examine in our next essay. 

                                                                 
28 A by-product of the milling process, after the flour and the bran had been made, usually used as a feed for fowl, but sometimes turned by the poor into a sort of pudding 

or dumpling – especially during the agricultural depression. 
29 The People, Sunday 22nd February 1891, page 7 
30 Surrey Advertiser, Saturday 11th April 1891, page 2 
31 TNA RG12/555/98/30 
32 Ipswich Journal, Saturday 18th July 1874, page 7. 
33 Surrey Advertiser, Saturday 24th February 1894, page 1 
34 Dorking and Leatherhead Advertiser, Thursday 22 February 1894, page 5 
35 Sussex Agricultural Express, Friday 23rd February 1894, page 4 
36 Surrey Mirror, Friday 27th September, 1895, page 1 
37 Bury Free Press, Saturday 15th August 1896, page 4 


